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DESCRIBETHE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Redoubt St. Archangel Michael (Old Sitka) Site occupies an area of approximately five 
acres bounded on the west by Starrigavan Bay, on the east by Halibut Point Road, and on 
the north by the Starrigavan River. There is no natural boundary to the south. Cwned and 
operated by the Alaska Division of Parks, it has been levelled by bulldozing and forms a 
flat presently covered with grass and a few trees on the western portion of the site. 
This side of the site has been extensively eroded by wave action and little remains of 
the area occupied by Russian buildings as identified by archaeological investigation. The 
eastern half of the site has been covered with a gravelled parking area. Other than an 
interpretive plaque in the parking area indicating locations of buildings identified in 
the 1935-36 Forest Service archaeological excavations and a wooden cross commemorating the 
burial of Russian and Aleut victims of the Tlingits 1 1802 attack on the post, there is 
nothing left to associate the site with the historical events that took place there.

A July 24, 1800, letter from Alexander Baranov to Qnelian Grigorievich Larionov describes 
construction that took place at the site during Baranov 1 s stay there from 
July of 1799 through the spring of 1800. Noting that only a low barabara 
was on the site prior to the Russian activity, he writes that a warehouse 
in which to keep supplies was the first building up. A two-story barracks 
measuring about fifty-six by twenty-eight feet with sentry boxes appended 
followed. Under the barracks was a cellar for storing provisions. During 
the fall and winter of 1799, an eight-cornered kashim for native workers 
was erected, as were a bath house, temporary blacksmith shop, kitchen, barn 
for cattle, and a portion of the fort wall. When Baranov left in the 
spring, another warehouse was planned, huts for drying and storing fish 
were to be built on the bank of the Starrigavan River, and the..pall isade-.;was 
to be completed,

No other description of the post has been located. When the Tlingits 
attacked in the spring of 1802, all of the buildings were burned to the 
ground. The site was never reoccupied permanently by the Russians or 
Tlingits, although tradition reports that it was occasionally used as a 
native camping place.

In 1878, the Cutting Packing Company of San Francisco built a cannery on 
the site. The cannery machinery was removed in 1882 and taken to the 
Kasilof River for use by the Arctic Packing Company. When the old Russian 
hospital, by then in use as a forerunner of Sheldon Jackson College, in 
Sitka was destroyed by fire in January of 1882, the students were scattered 
to other quarters. In 1883, a number of the students, Sheldon Jackson -, and 
perhaps others, went to the old cannery and salvaged the lumber to build the 
first structure on what is now the Sheldon Jackson College campus in Sitka. 
No traces of the cannery remain at the Redoubt St. Archangel Michael (Old 
Sitka) Site.

Five native smokehouses are reported on the site in 1910, and in 1914 
Father Sergius George Kostrometinoff obtained a special use permit from 
Tongass National Forest "an area of approximately one acre located on the

no
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shore of Old Sitka harbor...including the burial place of the Russians and 
Aleut Indians surrounded by the Tlingit Indians in the year 1802...in order 
to protect the graves." The traditional burial ground (no actual burials 
have ever been found) was marked by a large cross and annual memorial 
services were held. As time passed,interest waned and the cross rotted 
away.

In the fall of 1934, the U.S. Forest Service began extensive archaeological 
investigations of the site. A Civilian Conservation Corps (CCC) camp was 
established on the property and from November 1, 1934 to September 14, 
1935, excavation was carried out under the direction of W. A. Chipperfield, 
Admiralty Division District Ranger, and field supervision of John R. 
Maurstad, crew foreman.

The area excavated was approximately one acre. The crew set up one-hundred 
foot squares oriented true north and lettered A through J. A four-foot 
wide trench was run from the Forest Service Monument southeast to stake 
P.388-KP.I. of a preliminary road survey for the Halibut Point Road for a 
total distance of one-hundred and ninety-three feet. Next, another four- 
foot trench was run at right angles from the first forty-four feet to the 
southwest.

After the trenching, the entire one acre was stripped inch by inch. Excava­ 
tion was carried down to hard pan, one to four feet below the surface in 
19.34-1935. Artifacts were recovered in crevices, shallow soil, and at 
depths of four feet and more,

A total of 1145 specimens catalogued in 331 entries were identified in a 
1966-1967 recataloguing effort by the Wester Regional Office, National Park 
Service. The total number of items originally recovered is unclear because 
the field inventory grouped many items and because blocks of artifacts 
(including five mica items, thirty-seven lithic items, forty bead items, 
and about seven crockery items) were lost between 1936 and 1966 when the 
materials were restudied. In the interim, they had been stored at the 
University of Alaska Museum, Fairbanks. Materials still in the collection 
include one iron and bronze identification plaque, one bronze and two iron 
keys, sixty iron implements ranging from blacksmith tongs to scissors to a 
spoon, three draw knives and five knife blades, thirteen iron axes, six 
iron hammerheads, many spikes, wedges, and nails of iron, guns and gun 
parts, hinges, and assorted iron and brass hardware. There are also a 
number of copper and bronze, stone, and ceramic pieces including bricks, 
porcelain, and one clay smoking pipe.
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Most of the material recovered was in from the beach and no further than 
sixty to eighty feet from the shoreline. Very little was found beyond that 
limit. Four percent of the artifacts were earlier than the Russian occu­ 
pation and found deeper, including stone mortars and pestles and hammers, 
also a small stone scraper with a knife edge on one side and a sawtooth 
edge on the other.

A number of postholes, log sills, etc., were uncovered during the exca­ 
vation, which involved a total of four-hundred and four man days. After 
the work, Chipperfield plotted the Russian buildings on the ground plan. 
The location of the Forest Service Monument on which excavation maps were 
based, however, has been lost so that it is now impossible to accurately 
place the locations of the buildings.

Even so, it appears from records of the 1934-1935 excavations that much of 
the area excavated has been lost to erosion and that the balance of the 
Redoubt St. Archangel Michael (Old Sitka) site has been disturbed by sub­ 
sequent activity.

During World War II, the U.S. Navy claimed the property and bulldozed and 
leveled the acreage. Later, it was occupied by a squatter. Patented to 
the State of Alaska in 1962, the area was then used as a gravel bailing 
site and the shoreline receded considerably. In 1966, a State wayside 
was built at the location. This included grading, levelling, and land­ 
scaping, with gravelled parking area, log barriers, and interpretive 
markers placed there.

Apparently, the 1934-1935 excavations did not recover all of the buildings 
reported in contemporary narratives. Subsequent activity, however, prob­ 
ably destroyed any other remains and ended the potential for further 
archaeological examination.
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Significance

The site of Redoubt St. Archangel Michael (Old Sitka) represents the first 
Russian attempt to check English expansion into North Pacific commerce and 
also typifies a pattern that was to be repeated in Russian-native relations 
careful negotiation and sometimes payment for a trading site, native 
realization and objection to the true impact of the arrangement, Russian 
attempts to maintain their presence by show of force, and finally open con­ 
flict.

Redoubt St, Archangel Michael was established in July of 1799 and destroyed 
by Tlingit attack in June of 1802. Not reoccupied during the Russian 
administration of Alaska, it is reported to have been used occasionally as 
a native camping area and was the site of a cannery from 1878-1883. From 
1934-1935, the U.S. Forest Service excavated a portion of the site, deter­ 
mined some Russian building locations, and recovered many artifacts.

Later construction activity extensively disturbed the remaining area, while 
erosion is believed to have destroyed much of the site excavated by the 
Forest Service. In 1966, a State wayside was built at the location. It is 
now operated as a unit of the Alaska Park System open for year-round use.

Historical Background

After the ships of Captain James Cook's third expedition reached Macao in 
1779 and sold furs obtained on the Northwest Coast of North America at high 
prices, Europeans other than Russians greatly increased their interest in 
the North Pacific fur trade. By 1786, English, Flemish, French, and 
Americans were sailing into what the Russians regarded as their colonial 
waters to trade for sea otter pelts that could be exchanged at Canton for 
Chinese goods.

Fear of this competition, coupled with overharvest of sea otter that had 
required the Russians to follow the otter from the shores of Kamchatka to 
the Aleutians, from the Aleutians to Prince William Sound, from Prince 
William Sound to Yakutat, and finally from Yakutat to Sitka, made Baranov 
decide that it was necessary to establish a post at Sitka to thwart English 
and American attempts to infringe on the lucrative fur trade and to exploit 
that trade to it fullest.
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As early as 1796, Baranov dispatched James Shields in Northern Eagle to 
survey "Chilkat Bay", paying attention to the Sitka harbor where foreign 
ships frequently traded. Two years later, a hunting party killed and 
traded 1,200 sea otter plus other furs in a very short time in the Sitka 
area and Baranov decided to build a settlement there at the first oppor­ 
tunity.

The rewarding venture was followed by increasing alarm, for in 1799 Baranov 
wrote:

they [the Spanish or English] will be bound 
to spread their trade and develop activities 
in our direction. From the Americans [the 
natives of Alaska] I have heard that they 
are organizing a special company to found a 
permanent settlement in the vicinity of the 
Queen Charlotte Islands, on the Sitka side 
(or in that direction). It is possible that 
also from the standpoint of the Imperial 
court it would be proper to build fortifica­ 
tions for the defense of our industry and 
trade against the newcomers... The advantage 
of the local territory are great enough to 
insure for the future a million-ruble acqui­ 
sition for the government.

In the summer of 1799, Catherine was sent from Kodiak to Sitka with building 
materials for the new fort and Baranov followed shortly thereafter in Qlga. 
He arrived at Sitka July 7, a few days before Catherine. Meeting with 
local Tlingit chiefs, he gave presents and obtained cession of a site.

Six days were spent looking for a location for the new post and ultimately 
the area now known as Old Sitka was chosen. Building began on July 15, 

i 1799.

Baranov left Sitka for Kodiak in the summer of 1800, leaving one Medvednikov 
in charge of the redoubt with instructions to complete the fortifications.

Even before Baranov left, "rascals coming in from remote villages" and 
other natives, who had not expected the Russians to settle permanently in 
Sitka, insulted the Russians and their Aleut hunters. In one instance, a 
woman interpreter was badly beaten and Baranov with twenty-one men visited 
the Indian village in a show of force. Natives who had not been party to 
the original negotiations charged that the others had made themselves 
slaves of the Russians and a continuing game of challenges ensued.

108
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In the spring of 1802, a series of hunting parties were sent out and this 
left only twenty-one Russians, some convalescent Aleuts, and women and 
children in the redoubt. Encouraged by this weakness, the Tlingits of 
Indian River and others from Crab Apple Island and some distant villages 
attacked the post in mid-June. The settlement was burned, many were 
killed, one Russian and eighteen women were captured and enslaved, and two 
Russians and one woman with a child escaped.

Two years later, in 1804, Baranov led an expedition to Sitka from Kodiak to 
recapture the area. He defeated the Tlingits in a pitched battle at the 
site of a sapling fort known as "shiske-nu" at the mouth of the Indian 
River. After this, the Tlingits fled the Sitka area and did not return for 
some twenty years. The Russians did not reoccupy Redoubt St. Archangel 
Michael but built a new post centered around the downtown Sitka area now 
known as the American Flag Raising Site or Castle Hill.

The significance of the Redoubt St. Archangel Michael (Old Sitka) Site was 
recognized with its designation as a National Historic Landmark on June 13, 
1962.
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7. IMPORTANCE AND DESCRIPTION (Describe briefly what makes site important and what remains are extant)

Redoubt St. Michael (Sv Mikhall or Old Sitka), 1799-1802, was the £irst 
European settlement in the Alexander Archipelago* It was burned to the ground 
in a surprise attack by the vigorous and warlike THngit Indians in 1802,

Here, on July 7, 1799, In an effort to circumvent American, British and 
Spanish penetration of Southeastern Alaska, Chief Manager Alexander Baranov 
and his party of Russian American Company hunters, accompanied by their - 
Aleut allies, landed and founded the fortified trading post known as the Re- 
doubt St. Michael.

%y May, 1800, the post was comprised of a large two-story warehouse for 
furs, a blacksmith shop, a house for Baranov, barracks for the officers and 
hunters, a bath house, and a temporary kitchen, These log structures were 
enclosed by a strong stockade with blockhouses located at each of the four 
corners of the palisade, The post was manned by 25 Russian and 55 Aleut 
Huntera.

Irritated by this invasion of their territory, the THngit Indians 
surprised the fort and massacred all but a handful of inhabitants in June, 
1802, The settlement was burnt to the ground and the few survivors, three 
Russian, and two Aleut men. and 18 Aleut women, were forced to flee to 
St. Paul's Harbor (Kodiak;. Thus was the first effort of Baranov to colonize 
the Alexander Archipelago completely frustrated by the resistance of the Sitka 
Indians.

Present Appearance. The former site of Redoubt St. Michael has been iden­ 
tified by means of archeological research conducted by the National Park -—————————————————————————————————————————————[ Coat limed j————

8. BIBLIOGRAPHICAL REFERENCES (Give best sources; give location of manuscripts and rare workt) * '

See page 2.

9. REPORTS AND STUDIES (Mention best reports and studies, as, NFS study, JIABS, etc.}

A* Arthur Woodward, "A Preliminary Survey of Alaska's Archeology, Ethnology, 
and History, n -13PS Typescript (San

10. EWT USE (Museum, farm, etc.)

State -Historical Park
15. TITLE

13. DATE OF VISIT

July 1, 1961
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STATE
Alaska

NAME (S) OF SITE
Old Sitka (Redoubt Sv Ktkhail or St. Michael)

7. Continued*

Service in the 1930 f s. There are no surface remains, "but the setting is little 
changed since 1799. Old Sitka, comprising abeut two acres, is now a State Park.

In 1878 Old Sitka -was also the site of the first salmon cannery in Alaska, 
erected by the Cutting Packing Company of 'San Francisco. There are no traces 
left of this cannery.

$. Continued.
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7. IMPORTANCE AND DESCRIPTION (Describe briefly what makes site important and what remains are extant)

l*re, on JtOy 7* 179& ia «& effort to eireoatvtat American, Brltiah, a»d 
penetration of Southeastern Alauaka, Alexander Baranov and his party of Buaeian for 
hunter* landed and founded the fortified tradingpost fenova as tHa Redoubt St. Michael* 
By XBOO this Bu*6ian Aaerlcaa Coopany poet contained one tno-atory building 48 feet 
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ures were eurrounded l»y a strong stoctoid* vith at least three of th« four blockhcrcme*, 
located at the comer* of the paltaad** eoa&letea*

la June, 1802 the vigorous^ v&rlUse T.Ungit Indlano surprleed the fort and n&tt* 
sacred all but a handful of th* Hu*aiaa and Aleut Inhabitants. 2he settlement vsis 
burned to the ground, and the fev ourviVDrs wre forced to flee to Kodl&£» Thu» tan 
the first effort of Beranov to colonize the Alexander Archipelago eoiapletely frus* 
t rated by the resistance of the SitKa Indians.

Condition of the Site ? $he former sit© of Old Sitfca hae beea poaitively 
fled by mean* of arcbeologlcal research conducted by the national Park Service in 
the 1930**, There are no surface remain* «f the settlement* Hote: The «<joatter*s 
cabln^ erected over the original «lt» and shonn in1h* Jixly 1961 photogropii, haa, by 
Hovwaber 1961, been removed and the site returned to it* natural condition,
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Bancroft, History of Alaaka (ynffqBMiiSOBtt Son Frfcncleco, l686)(Vol, XXXIII of
and f .a. 5 *

Mcrl*
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BIBLIOGRAPHICAL REFERENCES (Gice best sources; one location of manuscripts and rare works')

Clarence L* Andrew*, ghe Story of Sitte (Seattle, m*Mngton, 1922), 18-25*
Alask » and

9. REPORTS AND STUDIES (Mention best reports and studies, an, NPSstudy, IIABS, etc.)

Alastea'e Archeology, Zthnology> and Hl«rtory, n SP3 f^?peecrlpt (San 
110j Mst)? referemcee HSGS Bitfea (A-5) Quaarangle, Ala0}sa>

Survey

10. PHOTOGRAPHS*

ATTACHED: YES NO D

11, CONDITION

Bo surface
12. PRESENT USE (Museum, farm, etc.) 13. DATE OF VISIT

14. NAME OF p /) 0 1 / C$ DC
15. TITLE

162
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